Limits to warming

In search of targets for global climate change

This evaluation has been prepared by BertJan Heij, with contributions from Bart Strengers, Bas Eickhout, Jelle van Minnen and Marcel Berk. Thanks go out to Bert Metz, Joop Oude Lohuis, Jan Verhagen (WUR), Gerbrand Komen (KNMI) and Rob van Dorland (KNMI) for their comments on the contents.

Original title: Hoeveel warmer mag het worden? (April 2005)

English translation: Ian Priestnall (¶aragraph Services)

Editorial advisor: Baud Schoenmaeckers (Synergos Communications)

Language editing: Ruth de Wijs (MNP)

Layout: Studio RIVM

August 2005

Cover: With thanks to NASA

Contents

Synthesis 5

- I Introduction 9
- II Effects of climate change 13
 - 1 Introduction 13
 - 2 Effects of gradual temperature change 13
 - 2.1 Global and European effects 13
 - 2.2 Changes in extreme temperatures as a result of gradual climate change 19
 - 2.3 Sea level rise 21
 - 3 Changes in the climate system initiated by gradual climate change 23
 - 3.1 Amplified effect on the Arctic 23
 - 3.2 Melting of the great ice sheets 25
 - 3.3 The thermohaline circulation 27
 - 4 Effects on the Netherlands *30*

References 32

Synthesis

The choice of a temperature target in the context of Article 2 of the UN Climate Convention requires scientific information on the consequences and risks of a variety of options to achieve this target, as well as consideration of the interests involved, as set out in Chapter 1. The evaluation presented here is limited to the scientific information on the effects of climate change important to such a consideration. Furthermore, this evaluation deals solely with the effects of climate change as such, and not with the related costs, neither of damage, nor mitigation or adaptation measures.

As far as *ecosystems* are concerned, the effects increase with increasing warming, and there seems to be no threshold effect. If the gradual temperature increase remains limited to 1°Celsius (C) since the end of the pre-industrial era, the effects on ecosystems will remain limited, but serious effects on highly vulnerable ecosystems (such as coral reefs) cannot be ruled out. An increase in the global mean temperature of around 1°C would probably lead to large-scale bleaching of coral reefs. If it is decided that no valuable ecosystems of substantial size may be lost, we will arrive at a gradual increase in the range of 1–2°C. If warming increases beyond 2°C, the risks will increase further. This means that a large number of species would become threatened with extinction, that biodiversity in protected areas would decline or that entire ecosystems would disintegrate.

In terms of *food production*, a global temperature increase of 3–4°C would not be expected to lead to a global loss of food production, but there is a significant regional risk of productivity losses from as little as a 1°C increase. This could lead to an increase in the number of people suffering from food shortages. The effects of climate change on food production will highly depend on the ability to adapt, by means of crop selection, (bio)technology, possible relocation of the agricultural infrastructure etc. It is uncertain whether sufficient possibilities exist to do so. If the political will is to have no significant regional risks of (additional) food shortages, we will arrive at a figure that must stay below 2°C.

The slow response of the oceans to the increasing surface temperature as a result of increasing concentrations of greenhouse gases means that part of the *sea level rise* can no longer be avoided either in this century or thereafter. Scientific uncertainties about the relationship between increasing temperature and the magnitude of future sea level rise mean that this is still difficult to quantify. The possibly larger contributions to sea level rise from the melting of the Greenland and West-Antarctic ice sheets, both this century and in the very long term (post-2100), increase this uncertainty. Still, very little is known about these melting processes.

If it is decided to limit the risks of sea-level rise over the very long term (after 2100) by preventing the irreversible melting of the Greenland ice sheet, it would be desirable to limit the mean temperature rise to $1-2^{\circ}$ C.

If it is decided to limit the effect of global average warming *over the Arctic* to prevent the loss of sea ice in summer, global mean warming of, at most, 2° C must be maintained. This degree of warming would translate to an increase of 4–8°C in the Arctic.

It is currently difficult to indicate the global mean temperature ranges above which the risk of a shutdown of the *thermohaline circulation* will be high. Provisionally, it appears that this will only happen with a temperature increase of more than 4–5°C. However, present measurements already reveal a weakening of the North Atlantic Circulation, while a number of scenarios arrive at this temperature rise at the end of the present century. So, this is a point of particular attention.

Compared with the last IPCC report (2001), more is now known about a number of effects of climate change and several risks are now assessed as being more serious, as outlined below.

- The latest literature studies reveal that a number of vulnerable ecosystems, such as coral reefs and marine ecosystems, are already experiencing the influence of climate change.
- The IPCC report had already pointed out the risks associated with the melting of the Greenland ice sheet if the local temperature were to rise by more than 2.7°C, stating that this would probably be irreversible. Since then there have been indications that the West-Antarctic and Greenland ice sheets may melt faster than had originally been supposed and may contribute considerably to global sea level rise even in the present century.
- The effect of global mean temperature rise appears to be amplified in the Arctic, which has consequences not just for the local population, but also globally due to the higher contribution to sea level rise (by melting of the Greenland ice sheet) and the possible release of methane caused by melting permafrost.
- The 2001 IPCC report stated that global warming may play a role in weakening or possibly even a shutdown of the thermohaline circulation. More certainty about this risk has now been obtained, as revealed by the fact that recent literature contains statements about the risk.

The results set out above are based on an extensive analysis of the literature since the last IPCC report (2001). It is striking to note that few of these studies pay attention to the consequences of an accumulation of stress factors. Moreover, many studies take little or no notice of adaptive capacity, which might lessen the adverse impact of climate change. This implies that the risks of climate change may be either underestimated or overestimated. The IPCC's Fourth Assessment Report, due to appear in 2007, will present current knowledge on all the effects of climate change. The present evaluation should be regarded as an interim balance in this context, responding to the need of the Dutch Parliamentary Committee for Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment for up to date information on climate impacts in the context of the 2^o target discussions.



Risks of climate change (synthesis)

I. Introduction

Article 2 of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) states that dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system must be prevented by stabilising the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. The stabilisation level and the time-frame required to achieve it must fulfil the following conditions:

- ecosystems must be able to adapt naturally;
- food production may not be threatened and
- the economy must be able to develop in a sustainable manner.

Both the scientific and the political aspects of these objectives are still under debate. Fulfilling the Climate Convention objectives requires insight into the way the climate system works and the consequences of climate change, but also demands that choices be made. Decisions about what constitute acceptable risks are inherently normative. They therefore require political assessments and choices, involving the following:

- Whether human activities result in dangerous interference is determined by the nature and degree of the impacts of climate change and what is thought to be acceptable in that context. Relevant here is the present adaptability of ecosystems and sectors of society, as well as how and at what cost this adaptability can be increased. The question of how climate change may be reduced by limiting emissions, and at what cost, is also relevant.
- The consequences of climate change are evident on all scales, including national and local ones. Furthermore, the global nature of the problem demands international decision making. Any assessment of national, short-term interests must take account of the risks to other countries and regions, as well as to future generations. However, it is not the role of science to make such judgements. For this reason, these risks will not be dealt with further in this evaluation, which is limited to presenting the important scientific information needed in making such judgements. It is important to note, here, that scientific insights can change, too.

In 1991 the Government of the Netherlands already presented the following *normative basis* for its climate policy in response to Article 2 of the UN Climate Convention (re-confirmed in a follow-up document: 'Uitvoeringsnota Klimaatbeleid, 1999'):

- the global mean temperature may rise by, at most, 2°C above the pre-industrial level;
- the rate of temperature increase must remain at less than 0.1°C per decade;
- the world mean sea level rise may ultimately be no more than 50 cm.

In 1996 the EU also opted for the 2°C target. This choice was re-confirmed at the council meeting of EU environment ministers in December 2004 in the light of the most recent scientific knowledge. At the same time scientific uncertainty was observed with respect to the translation of the 2°C temperature rise into greenhouse gas concentrations and the options for necessary emission reductions (emission pathways).

On 8 November 2004, during the round table talks with the Dutch Parliamentary Committee for Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment, questions arose about the 2^o target. Is it too ambitious, is it sufficient, or is it inadequate to realise the basic principles of Article 2 of the Climate Convention? The Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (MNP) took the initiative in evaluating the status of scientific knowledge on the effects of climate change in the light of this 2^o target, with the goal of supporting the political process in setting an objective that is in accordance with the principles of Article 2. The effects of climate change were examined in this context, using as indicator the global mean temperature increase since the pre-industrial era.

This evaluation is not just concerned with the effects of gradual warming due to increasing greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere but also with a number of risk factors in the climate system that may disturb the pattern of gradual warming and their possible effects. Important are risks related to natural variability (which are not dealt with further here). The last IPCC Report (Third Assessment Report – TAR) dates from 2001. Since then, a great deal of research has been done and greater insight has been obtained into a number of effects of climate change.

The goal of the evaluation then is to briefly outline the current scientific status of a number of major impacts of global warming. The evaluation thus represents an update of the knowledge contained in the last IPCC Report, which can serve as the context for an evaluation of the 2° target. It should be regarded as an interim balance in this context, responding to the need of the Dutch Parliamentary Committee for Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment for up to date information on climate impacts in the context of the 2° target discussions.

The translation of temperature increase into concentration targets is not dealt with in detail, nor is the relationship between emissions and concentrations. Recent knowledge on this topic is summarised in Box 1.

Box 1. New insights into climate sensitivity: implications for the concentrations and emissions of greenhouse gases

The climate's sensitivity is expressed in terms of the global mean increase of (surface) temperature (in degrees Celsius) resulting from a doubling of CO₂ (equivalent) concentration in the atmosphere compared to the preindustrial level, i.e. approximately 550 ppmv. The actual climate sensitivity value is uncertain. The most significant reasons for this uncertainty have to do with our current poor understanding of the effect of increasing greenhouse gas concentrations on cloud formation. An increase in the concentration of greenhouse gases also leads to more water vapour in the atmosphere, which in itself also has a greenhouse effect. However, this effect highly depends on the level of water vapour increase, and whether this increase occurs in the clouds or outside them. Furthermore, the effect of clouds on the climate can change due to changes in the geographic distribution; the effect depends on the type of cloud cover, the amount of water that the clouds contain, the mean size of droplets and ice crystals, etc. Lastly, it is not really possible to use historical temperature observations to give a statistical indication of the range of the climate's sensitivity, partly because of the 'global dimming' effect (the tempering influence of aerosols on past temperatures (Stainforth et al., 2005)).

The IPCC has adopted a probability range for the climate's sensitivity between 1.5 and 4.5, with 2.5 as the median estimate. Based on this median estimate, a stabilisation of greenhouse gas concentrations at 550 ppmv would lead to an ultimate temperature increase of nearly 2.5°C. If we are to stay under 2°C, the concentration must be stabilised at a level below 550 ppmv. Since the last IPCC Report (2001^a), a number of new studies have appeared that have used a variety of approaches to construct probability density functions for the climate sensitivity value. Murphy et al., 2004, for example, assumes a 90% probability that the sensitivity value is found between 2 and 4,

with 3 being the most likely value. There are other estimates, however, as the accompanying figure shows. The functions show the range of possible climate sensitivity values to be greater than the IPCC range and, moreover, that higher climate sensitivity values are more probable. The probability that the climate sensitivity has a maximum value of 2.5 is therefore reduced.

The Wigley and Raper log-normal distribution corresponds to the IPCC range of 1.5–4.5 (90% confidence interval) with a most likely value of 2.5.

These new estimates led Hare and Meinshausen (2004) and Den Elzen and Meinshausen (2005) to explore the implications of the limitation of global temperature rise to 2°C, which is the EU target value. They came to the following conclusions:

- It is improbable that emission pathways leading to a stabilisation at 550 ppmv CO₂ equivalent are sufficient to achieve the 2°C target.
- If this target is to be achieved with a greater than 50% confidence level, the greenhouse gas concentrations must be stabilised at 450 ppmv CO₂ equivalent or less.
- This requires the global emissions to reach their maximum level before 2020, followed by reductions in 2050 in the order of 30–50%, compared with the 1990 level.

If it is not assumed that greenhouse gas concentrations remain stable, but that the maximum concentrations are followed by a progressive decline, we can avoid some of the warming that would ultimately have occurred. This implies that the levels at which concentrations reach their maximum can temporarily be higher than the indicated stabilisation values.



Probability density functions for climate sensitivity Source: Hare and Meinshausen, 2004

A great deal of this new knowledge is incorporated in current policy. The conclusions of the EU Environment Council, December 2004, for instance, include the following statement:

....RECOGNISES that recent scientific research and work under the IPCC indicates that it is unlikely that stabilization of greenhouse gas concentrations above 550 ppmv CO₂ equivalent would be consistent with meeting the 2 degrees Celsius long-term objective and that in order to have a reasonable chance to limit global warming to no more than 2 degrees Celsius stabilization of concentrations well below 550 ppmv CO_2 equivalent may be needed; NOTES that keeping this long-term objective within reach will require global greenhouse gas emissions to peak within two decades, followed by substantial reductions in the order of at least 15% and perhaps by as much as 50% by 2050 compared to 1990 levels.' (Council of the European Union, 2004)

Scope of the evaluation

The main theme of this evaluation centres on the effects and possible risks of a range of temperature increases based on the IPCC's 2001 report, and represents an assessment of the most recent publications in this area. The information is presented in the form of possible developments, in other words, what may be expected, given a certain global temperature rise above the pre-industrial level (1750). This is based on current climate conditions and is independent of other factors, such as wars or natural disasters.

The evaluation has been delimited as such

- Global mean temperature has been chosen as the general climate indicator, in the knowledge that climate change embraces more than temperature change alone. Precipitation patterns, for example, will also change. The models that produced the results used in this study take account of all significant climate parameters. Viewed from the perspective of climate policy, greenhouse gas concentrations and global mean temperature rise are the common factors around which world-wide agreements could be made. Temperature increase is closer to the effects of climate change than concentration. Since the political goals make specific mention of temperature, the considerations in this evaluation are also linked to temperature.
- Only the consequences of temperature change are treated here, and not the consequences of the rate of temperature increase. This rate may well be important in achieving the 2° objective in 2100, but too few relevant studies are available.
- The evaluation looks at the risks of a global mean temperature increase from 0.7 (pre-industrial level up to the present, according to the UK Met Office, 2004) to 5.8°C (the upper limit of the range given by the IPCC for the year 2100). The emphasis is on the range of 2–3°C, since most information is available for this range.
- No specific attention is paid to the uncertainties attached to the expected temperature rises. The material available is used in the context of the uncertainties stated per publication.
- No specific attention is devoted to the intrinsic adaptability of ecosystems or sectors.
- This evaluation does not deal with the economic aspects of the issue. An example here is the costs of stabilisation efforts through mitigation (countering the causes of climate change) and adaptation (adapting to climate change) in association with the costs of climate effects. Basic information on this can be found in the most recent IPCC report (IPCC, 2001c).

II. Effects of climate change

1. Introduction

There are two ways of looking at the formulation of threshold values for the effects of climate change in the context of avoiding 'dangerous interference'. The first type of threshold value is related to the risks of a gradual climate change, including changes in extreme weather events or variability, which, if violated, lead to damage that policy makers would regard as unacceptable. This type of threshold value is the result of a process in which the relative risks to different sectors and regions are weighed against the costs of avoiding those risks.

Another type of threshold value is related to the risks of structural, often abrupt and irreversible, changes within the climate system itself. These changes may be set in train by gradual climate change and occur in addition to the effects associated with such change. Examples of this sort of risks are processes that accelerate climate change (called runaway processes), such as a decline in the reflection of sunlight and an increase of soil emissions (melting of permafrost) as the Arctic warms up; abrupt, irreversible changes such as the halting of the thermohaline circulation, and the crumbling and melting of the ice sheets. The influence of these processes can be felt on a regional and often global scale. Even though the dynamics are often complex, the probability that such a non-linear process will be initiated can be related to the mean temperature increase. It is reasonable to suppose that violation of a threshold value associated with large-scale, irreversible effects would be generally regarded as unacceptable and therefore as a 'dangerous interference'.

2. Effects of gradual climate change

This section reports on the assessment of the literature along three axes: geographic scale, temperature increase and sectors / systems. The scales studied are global and European. The temperature increase is examined in a range of 0.7 °C to 5.8 °C. The areas considered are ecosystems, biodiversity, food production and health. Finally, extremes of weather are also examined.

2.1 Global and European effects

Ecosystems – global

A great deal of new scientific literature on the influence of climate change on ecosystems has appeared since 2001. Generally speaking, greater temperature changes are associated with accelerated ecosystem change. At certain rates of change, ecosystems will no longer be able to adapt. Vulnerable ecosystems can already be severely impacted by rises in *the global mean temperature between 0.7°C above pre-industrial level (the current situation) and 1°C above the pre-industrial level.* Figure 1 shows that especially coral reefs enter the danger zone at a warming of 1°C (Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999; Sheppard, 2003). A number of specific studies have also appeared, dealing with such vulnerable ecosystems as the high tropical forests in Queensland, Australia (Hilbert et al., 2001; Hilbert et al., 2003; Williams et al., 2003) and the Succulent Karoo in South Africa (Rutherford et al., 1999; Hannah et al., 2002; Midgley et al., 2002). These studies reveal adverse effects from climate change on these vulnerable ecosystems, with a temperature increase of as little as 1°C. Moreover, forests in boreal (and other) regions may be influenced since forest fires may occur more frequently (Ni, 2001).

Between 1°C and 2°C the damage to the above ecosystems will increase and many other ecosystems will start to experience change. Some Arctic and alpine ecosystems will probably suffer great damage (Hare, 2003; Busby, 1988; Burgmann, 1997; Theurillat and Guisan, 2001; Derocher et al., 2002).

Between 2°C and 3°C global temperature increase, the effects will increase. The upper limit of this range is associated with the very serious risk that the Succulent Karoo will disappear, together with its 2800 plant species. There is a risk that this temperature range will result in potentially irreversible damage to the Amazon Forest, principally due to drought in the area. This can also lead to reduced CO₂ uptake, or even turn into CO₂ emission (Cowling et al., 2003; Cox et al., 2004).

Above 3°C the effects on ecosystems increase further. Major impacts may be expected on the waterfowl populations in the Prairie Pothole Region in the USA (Sorenson et al., 1998). The Arctic sea ice area will also decline sharply, especially in summer, leading to further threats to the polar bear population. Furthermore, approximately half of the world's nature reserves will no longer be able to adapt (Leemans and Eickhout, 2004).

A survey of the impacts of increasing global mean temperature on specific ecosystems is presented in Figure 1.

The *coral reefs* appear to be one of the most vulnerable ecosystems (O'Neill and Oppenheimer, 2002). Coral reefs are characterised by great biodiversity and also have economic value (tourism, fish catch). Even now, many coral reefs are showing major changes, partly caused by the observed temperature change. Excessive sea water temperatures lead to bleaching due to the dieback of the unicellular micro-organisms with which the coral has a symbiotic relationship. The bleaching effect will increase markedly if the global temperature increase continues beyond 1°C. If bleaching occurs too often, there is a great risk that the coral reefs will disappear.

Another new phenomenon is the *acidification of the oceans* due to the increase in dissolved CO_2 concentration (The Royal Society, 2005). The oceans are absorbing CO_2 from the atmosphere and this is causing chemical changes by making them more acidic (that is, decreasing the pH), which can bring about several adverse effects (see Box 2)



Figure 1: Effects on ecosystems (source: Hare, 2003)

Box 2. Acidification of the oceans

In the past 200 years the oceans have absorbed approximately half the CO_2 emitted through human activities. Calculations based on measurements indicate that this uptake of CO_2 over the past 200 years has led to a reduction in the average pH of surface sea water of 0.1 units and could fall by 0.5 units by the year 2100. This pH is probably lower than has been experienced for hundreds of millennia and, critically, at a rate of change probably 100 times greater than at any time over this period. The acidic water could interrupt the process of shell and coral formation, and adversely affect other organisms dependent on corals and shellfish. The acidity could also negatively impact other calcifying organisms, such as phytoplankton and zooplankton. This may reduce the ocean's ability to absorb CO₂ from the atmosphere, which in turn will accelerate the rate of global warming. The entire marine food chain may also be harmed. Ocean acidification is essentially irreversible during our lifetime. It will take tens of thousands of years for ocean chemistry to return to a condition similar to that occurring in pre-industrial times. CO₂-induced acidification of the marine system has only recently emerged as a serious issue, backed up by experimental studies. Research into the impacts of high concentrations of CO₂ in the oceans is in its infancy and needs to be developed rapidly, given the gravity of this problem.

With regard to *glaciers*, both the surface and volume of 300 glaciers throughout the world are said to have shown a decline between 1961 and 1998, and accelerated melting since 1980 (Dyurgerov, 2003). Oerlemans (2005) looked at records of the length of 169 glaciers in different parts of the world. He related changes in glacier length to changes in temperature (Figure 2). Firstly, he observed that the mean glacier retreat started around 1800 and then accelerated gradually. From 1900 to 1980, 142 of the recorded 144 glaciers retreated. Glacier retreat on the century time scale seems to be fairly uniform around the globe. There are strong indications that glacier fluctuations on a continental scale are, over decades to centuries, primarily driven by temperature. This enables the reconstruction of temperatures from these fluctuations fully independent of other sources (proxy or instrumental). Oerlemans found that most regions show a temperature increase from 1860 onwards. In the first half of the 20th century the temperature rise is

notably similar for all regions in the world: about 0.5 K in 40 years. After 1945, the global mean temperature drops slightly up to 1970, when it starts to rise again. This result provides additional evidence about the magnitude of the current global warming, the time that this warming started, and the notion that in the lower troposphere the warming appears to be independent of elevation.



Fig. 2. Stacked records of glacier length (source: Oerlemans, 2005).

(Irregularities occur when a glacier with a large length change is added. However, this does not necessarily involve a large change in climatic conditions because glaciers exhibiting large changes are normally those that have a large climate sensitivity (and thus respond in a more pronounced way to, for instance, a temperature change). After 1900, the irregularities disappear, because the number of glaciers in the sample shows a strong increase).

Ecosystems – European scale

The most sensitive ecosystems in Europe are the wetlands, alpine vegetation and ecosystems in the European Arctic. Even with a global temperature increase of 1°C, several plant species on mountain tops will come under threat (Gitay et al., 2002), just as ecosystems in sensitive wetland areas of the European Mediterranean and the Baltic (Hare, 2003). An increase between 2°C and 3°C (global) will threaten Arctic ecosystems (e.g. large areas of tundra will disappear), and large-scale effects will be observed in wetland ecosystems throughout Europe (Kundzewicz et al., 2001; Hare, 2003; ACIA, 2004).

Biodiversity

Biodiversity is the biological richness of life on earth at the level of genes, species and ecosystems. Biodiversity represents the intrinsic value of nature. Biodiversity is also important for human health and plays a role in food provision and as a source of raw materials. Very little is yet known about these functions.

Many publications are now available that describe the close correlation between climate change and changes in the areas in which species are distributed. Model research has also been done on the effects of climate change on biodiversity. This involves defining a 'climate space' within which the species can flourish. Climate models are used to investigate how this space moves. Migration of species is sometimes difficult or impossible as a result of natural (water, mountains) or human barriers (agricultural land) because of a lack of physical space. For example, Williams et al. (2003) investigated the Australian tropical rainforest, the richest area in Australia, biologically speaking. They looked at the effects of local temperature increases between 1°C and 7°C on species distribution, using bio-climate models based on 220,000 observations. They estimated the changes in the distribution area of each species under different climate scenarios. Model calculations for 62 native species that occur at altitudes higher than 600 m indicated that a 1°C temperature increase would result in an average 40% loss of potential distribution area. The figure for 3.5°C is 90% and for 5°C, 97%. A temperature increase of 7°C results in a loss of the entire potential distribution area for all species.

Bakkenes et al. (2005) did a comparable analysis for 856 European plant species for which the present distribution area is clearly correlated with climate patterns. Here it was concluded that a warming of 3°C above the pre-industrial would result in the disappearance of, on average, 10% of European species from several European countries. At 2°C, the goal of maintaining species was concluded to be within reach on the European continent, even though certain plant species would disappear in a number of countries.

Conclusions

To summarise, sensitivities would seem to vary between different ecosystems and regions. In broad terms, the risks increase with increasing temperature (see Figure 1). If the increase is limited to less than 1°C, the ecosystem effects will be limited, but they cannot be ruled out, as the coral reefs are now showing us. A further increase above 1°C leads to increased risk. Between 1°C and 2°C warming will lead to changes and even disappearance of a number of ecosystems in many locations around the world. Further warming is associated with increased risks, resulting in very many cases in species becoming threatened with extinction or even the disintegration of ecosystems.

Ecosystems in Europe are generally less sensitive than in other parts of the world. But here, too, temperature increase will have an effect, first of all, in some wetland areas, alpine regions and the European Arctic.

Food production

The effect of climate change on food production is governed by a variety of factors, such as temperature, water availability and CO_2 fertilisation (by atmospheric CO_2). This last factor generally leads to increased yields. The vulnerability of food production varies sharply from region to region: regions where food production is already limited by climatic conditions, such as arid areas, and poor regions where there is

little possibility for (technological) adaptation are most sensitive. When considering food production it is also important to distinguish between the global and the regional scale: on the global scale, losses in a certain region can be compensated by increased production in another. Global vulnerability is thus lower than regional or local vulnerability. Viewed in terms of risks of starvation and/or malnutrition and social effects, the regional scale is more relevant than the global one. Smith et al., (2001) sketch a worldwide picture in which a warming of around 1°C is favourable for world-wide food production, while it will cause relatively little damage on the regional scale. Nearly all developed countries will be at an advantage, while many developing countries in the tropics will probably be confronted with small but significant yield losses, compared with an unchanged climate.

Between 2°C and 3°C warming will not endanger world-wide food production, but the risk on the regional scale will increase significantly (Parry et al., 1999; Parry et al., 2001; Arnell et al., 2002; Parry et al., 2004). The crop yields in developing countries will then seem to suffer greatly under higher temperatures. At a temperature increase of 3°C, for example, the grain yields in current and potential future agricultural areas in South Africa will decline by approximately 40%. The grain yields of the present agricultural areas will decline even more at such temperatures (Fischer et al., 2001). The associated effects of climate change on water supply play an important role here.

If grain yields are to be maintained at high temperatures, many areas will have to shift, so that northern regions can expect increases in crop yields (Canada, USA, Russia and Northern Europe).

Warming from 3°C to 4°C will have an adverse effect on global food production. One study (Parry et al., 2001) states that 80 to 125 million people will then run an additional risk of starvation, depending on the climate model used. In Australia, a warming of around 4°C will probably remove entire regions from food production (Pittock et al., 2001).

The outcomes of the European Climate Forum Symposium in Beijing (ECF, 2004) confirm this picture: warming between 2°C and 2.5°C (above the pre-industrial level) will bring significant regional, more or less serious, risks to food production (South Asia, Southern Africa and parts of Russia). Above this range there is an increasing risk to China, Africa, South Asia and Russia, but there are uncertainties, such as the CO_2 fertilisation mentioned above.

At all levels of warming, a large group of poor, highly vulnerable developing countries are expected to suffer from increasing food shortages, leading to greater uncertainty in the food supply and to starvation. An increase in extremes and changes in climate variability will also have consequences for agriculture in arid and semi-arid regions, but this is not yet possible to quantify.

Human health

It is difficult to determine the impact of climate change on human health because it is influenced by a great many factors, such as levels of prosperity and education, natural resistance and/or susceptibility, quality of and access to health care, etc. A great problem, too, is that many effects are linked to extreme weather situations. Human influence, in the sense of climate change, can certainly be recognised here, but cannot be quantified yet (see Section 2.2).

Weather extremes can have a great influence on health, as the extremely dry European summer of 2003 demonstrated. Temperature increase can be associated with a great risk of contagion from pathogens via (drinking) water. The spread of such diseases as malaria and Dengue Fever is also temperature-related. Further risks are the increase in food and water shortages and an increase in natural disasters, such as flood-ing. Actually, only studies on malaria are available at global coverage and over a certain time-frame (Hitz and Smith, 2004).

Broadly speaking, Hitz and Smith come to the conclusion that morbidity and morta-lity figures resulting from an increased global temperature will more probably increase than decline. They characterise the relationship between human health and climate change as one of increasingly adverse effects. No indication can be given yet of a range of temperature increases and the related effects for this topic.

2.2 Changes in extreme temperatures as a result of gradual climate change

The global mean temperature has risen in the past century by more than 0.7°C above the pre-industrial level. In the last quarter of the 20th century, the warming of the earth was more than three times that of the past 100 years. The 1990s were the hottest years in the Northern Hemisphere (source: WMO).

Until recently, the human impact on the climate could only be demonstrated in terms of global warming or the rise in mean temperatures above the major continents. Klein Tank (2004) has shown that the warming of the earth can also be visible in the extremes: during the past half-century there have been fewer cold extremes and more warm extremes in Europe. The degree to which the extremes change does not correspond exactly with the climbing average temperatures. For example, in recent decades the increase in the number of relatively hot days contributed more to warming than the decline in the number of relatively cold days. This unequal change in relatively cold and warm daytime temperatures could be seen as a fingerprint of human influence on the climate (see also Box 3).

In conclusion, it can be stated that there is a statistical relationship between the increase in extreme temperatures and anthropogenic global warming. A better understanding and quantification of the observed changes in extremes requires a closer analysis of the

Box 3. Changes in mean and extreme values under the influence of gradual temperature change

The probability of a heat wave occurring changes as the mean temperature rises. Anthropogenic warming shifts the statistical distribution (probability density function) of summer temperatures towards warmer conditions. This has a great effect on the probability that the temperature will exceed some selected threshold value on the right-hand side of the probability function: the likelihood of extreme summers will probably increase as the mean of the function shifts due to gradual warming (see accompanying figure). The shape of the probability density function (the variability) may also change due to human influence, but the underlying physical causes are currently only known in part (see Schär et al., 2004, for example).



Figure. Example of a probability density function of mean summer temperatures and the changes resulting from gradual warming

underlying physical mechanisms that cause the trends. Such an analysis may confirm that human influence is not only visible in the average warming, but also in the changes in extreme temperatures. It will also afford insight into how weather extremes might change in Europe in the coming century.

In advance of this, some scientists have made statements about the effects of an increase in weather extremes (Leemans and Van Vliet, 2004). The observed ecological changes occur more frequently and are more pronounced than might be expected on the basis of a mean temperature increase of 0.7°C. They seem to correlate far better with changes in weather extremes than with average warming. On the basis of observed and expected effects, Leemans and Van Vliet believe that the threshold of a 2°C global mean temperature increase is too high: even small changes in global mean temperature will be associated with disproportionately large changes in the frequency and magnitude of weather extremes and thus with unpredictable and undesirable effects on species and ecosystems. They therefore recommend limiting the global mean temperature increase to 1.5°C above the pre-industrial level, at a rate of less than 0.05°C per decade.

While the effects of increasing weather extremes on nature (as well as on agriculture

and public health) should not be underestimated, recommending a (revised) temperature target, as suggested by Leemans and Van Vliet is still speculative. Generally speaking, many effects are set in train by weather extremes, but we do not yet know how those weather extremes will change. Insight in this area will contribute greatly to an estimation of the risks of climate change.

2.3 Sea level rise

Natural changes in sea level can be very large. For example, during the last glacial era, which ended about 10,000 years ago, the ocean was 120 metres lower than it is now (Rapley, 2005).

Global mean sea level rises can occur due to an increase in the volume of water in the oceans. During the 20th and 21st centuries this is likely to be the result of thermal expansion of sea water and the melting of glaciers and changes in the mass of the Antarctic and Greenland ice sheets (Church, 2001). The process of thermal expansion is characterised by a long delay after a temperature increase, meaning that it is necessary to look several centuries ahead. Church (2001) suggests that the most important contribution to 20th and 21st century sea level rise is likely to be thermal expension of the oceans. However, Thomas et. al., (2004) state that half of the recent sea level rise is due to the melting of ice from Greenland, West Antarctica's Amundsen Sea and mountain glaciers (Thomas et al., 2004).

The sea level change *at a given locality*, also termed the *relative* sea level change, depends on yet more factors:

- regional variations, including those caused by non-uniform patterns of temperature and salinity changes in the ocean. These can cause deviations (up to 100%) from the world mean sea level rise (Gregory and Lowe, 2000).
- vertical movements of the land surface caused, for example, by tectonics, and land subsidence due to large-scale water extraction or compaction of peatlands.

The relative sea level rise is thus the sum of the global mean sea level rise, the regional component and the local, vertical component.

Global mean sea level rise *during the 20th century* was 10–20 cm (Church and Gregory, 2001). This figure is derived from measurements that have been corrected for vertical land movements. Rapley (2005) estimates the current rate of sea level rise at ca. 1,8 mm/year.

With regard to the *future*, one must take account of the response to future emissions as well as the continuing response to past ones – the delayed effect of past greenhouse emissions (see Figure 3). This last factor, which is largely governed by the thermal expansion, will continue to play a part for many centuries to come, due to the long-term process by which surface heat mixes with the deeper layers of the ocean.



Figure 3: Time lags in the climate system.

In its 2001 Report, based on a number of emission scenarios, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) expected the global mean sea level to rise in 2100 by 9–88 cm. This broad range can be ascribed to scientific uncertainties and different assumptions about population growth and economic development, which also translate into the temperature projection range. Furthermore, a part is also played by uncertainties about the growth of the ice sheets due to precipitation and calving, and the degree to which the temperature increase is distributed over the ocean. The increase can principally be ascribed to thermal expansion. The range of 9–88 cm does not incorporate the major uncertainties attached to possible large changes in the West Antarctic Ice Sheet (WAIS) and the Greenland Ice Sheet, see Section 3.2.

Model calculations indicate a future global mean sea level rise that is practically independent of future emissions until ca. 2050 (Mitchell et al., 2000). However, after 2050, future emissions assume increasing importance in managing the sea level rise over a period of centuries. A global mean sea level rise is thus unavoidable during the 21st century and thereafter. But we can influence the (rate of) sea level rise in the 22nd century and thereafter by cutting greenhouse gas emissions in the current century.

Stabilisation of the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, via certain emission pathways (in association with certain mitigation measures), will limit the temperature increase and therefore also the thermal expansion of sea water that leads to sea level rise. Nevertheless, the delayed effect of past emissions means that adaptive measures will have to be taken in any case. MNP used its IMAGE model to compute a stabilisation scenario of 650 ppmv CO_2 equivalent, arriving at the global mean temperature rise in 2100 presented in the table below (Eickhout et al., 2003). Global mean sea level increases have been computed using a comparable stabilisation scenario (S550, 550 ppmv CO_2), which gave roughly the same temperature increases in 2100 for the same climate sensitivity values but using a different method (Nicholls and Lowe (2004; Nicholls, 2005). Combining these results gives a relationship between temperature increase and sea level rise in 2100, as illustrated, for example in the table below. Incidentally, the sea level will continue to rise for many centuries after 2100 due to the delay effect: the thermal expansion will be higher by a factor of 4 to 9, 500 years after stabilisation at 550 ppmv. Even then, only half of the ultimate rise might have taken place.. Model results show ranges of 0.5 m to 2 m at 550 ppmv CO_2 and 1 m to 4 m at 1100 ppmv CO_2 (IPCC, 2001a)

Selected	Calculated	Calculated	Additional people
sensitivity	increase in	2100(cm. above	(millions per annum)
(See Box 1)	2100 (°C)	1990 level)	in 2100
1,5	1,5	13	Several
2,5	2,3	28	ca. 25
4,5	3,5	76	ca. 300

Finally, this table shows an estimate of the additional number of people who will be hit every year by floods as a consequence of sea level rise due to global warming. This estimate is based on specific population and GDP scenarios (Nicholls and Lowe, 2004).

3. Changes in the climate system triggered by gradual climate change

This chapter is devoted to the non-linear changes in the climate system initiated by gradual climate change. These can exert their effects on all scales: global, regional and local. These change mechanisms are great risk factors, since they commonly involve abrupt, irreversible processes. Important 'weak links' here are:

- 1. amplified effect of global mean temperature rise on the Arctic.
- 2. melting of the great ice sheets and the related sea level rise.
- 3. risk of a substantial reduction in the thermohaline circulation (THC)

3.1 Amplified effect on the Arctic

During the past few decades the average temperature in the Arctic has risen nearly twice as fast as in the rest of the world. There are certainly regional variations caused by wind patterns and ocean waves, which means that some areas have warmed up more than others, while a few areas show a slight cooling. However, the Arctic as a whole displays a clear trend of amplified warming over the global mean (see Figure 4).

A number of mechanisms are responsible for this (see Box 4). The Arctic Climate Assessment (ACIA 2004) reports on the consequences for humans and the environment (ACIA being a four-year study, completed in 2004 and conducted by more than 250 scientists and members of indigenous populations.)

Warming during the past few decades was found to be accompanied by melting glaciers

and sea ice, as well as higher permafrost temperatures. There are indications that a large area, stretching for a million square kilometres across the permafrost of western Siberia, is turning into a mass of shallow lakes as the ground melts (New Scientist.com news service, 11 August 2005). Melting permafrost is a major source of feedback that could accelerate climate change by releasing either CH_4 into the atmosphere (in wet conditions) or CO_2 (from dry soils). Larry Smith of the University of California, Los Angeles, estimates the west Siberian bog alone to contain some 70 billion tonnes of methane, a quarter of all the methane stored on land surfaces worldwide.

Associated effects of melting glaciers and sea ice are loss of albedo, sea level rise and a decrease in salinity of the northern seas as a result of melting ice, and an increase in the inflow of river water from melting glaciers. The last-mentioned two processes may lead to a slowdown of the THC (see Section 3.3).



Figure 4: Anomalies of observed global average and Arctic temperatures (1900 to present), relative to the average for 1961-1990.

Some of the consequences for the Arctic itself involve a retreat of sea ice (with adverse consequences for many mammal species), changed shipping routes (a beneficial effect), shifting zones of vegetation, disintegration of the permafrost, and economic and cultural consequences for the indigenous people. Disintegration of the permafrost leads to damage to buildings, roads, oil/gas plants and pipelines, and could result in serious environmental problems.

A global average warming of 2°C corresponds to an increase of 4–8°C in the Arctic. Calculations with various computer models predict that this sort of warming will result in almost the entire disappearance of Arctic sea ice in the summer towards the end of the present century (Johannesen et al., 2004). This will threaten the survival of the polar bear, ice-dependent seals, walruses and a number of seabirds. The tundra forms a breeding area for more than 20 million geese and wading birds. Many of these species will experience the adverse effects on tundra ecosystems, which are predicted to occur when the warming climbs to 2°C.

According to the Hadley Centre (2005), the quantity of Arctic ice was constant until the 1960s. From 1970 it has declined by 7.5%, which corresponds to about one million square kilometres. This cannot be explained solely in terms of natural causes. If human activities are included in the Hadley Centre model, the model simulations agree with the observations. Human interference can thus be concluded to cause the Arctic ice to melt.

3.2 Melting of the great ice sheets

If the Greenland and Antarctic ice sheets start to melt as global warming continues, they may add significantly to the global mean sea level rise. The potential effect of these ice sheets on the sea level as a result of global warming is great. Projections indicate that there is enough water in these ice sheets taken together for a sea level rise of up to 13 metres over the next 1000 years (Mercer, 1978; Lowe et al., 2005).

The last IPCC report expected only a very minor contribution from the melting of ice on Greenland to the sea level rise this century. Nor was it thought that instability in the WAIS would contribute significantly to sea level rise this century (IPCC, 2001a).

Box 4. Melting of the Greenland ice sheet

In some places the Greenland ice sheet is more than 3 km thick. It contains nearly 3 million cubic kilometres of ice. If this enormous quantity were to melt, the global sea level would rise by 7 metres, resulting in the submergence of many coastal regions and most of the world's largest cities. ('Stabilising climate to avoid dangerous climate change', Hadley Centre, January 2005)

In recent decades the Greenland ice sheet seems to have been melting with increasing rapidity (Abdalati and Steffen, 2001). The accompanying figure shows that between 1992 and 2002 increasingly large areas of Greenland melted away in the summer. The reduction or growth of ice sheets depends on melting (temperature) and precipitation (snow). At annual mean local warming of more than 2.7°C, the precipitation in Greenland is exceeded by the melting, which leads on balance to shrinkage of the ice sheet (Huybrechts et al., 1999; IPCC, 2001a). Recent research also suggests that a local temperature increase of a little less than 3°C (which is associated with a global mean warming of ca. 1.5°C) may start a process of irreversible melting of the Greenland ice sheet over a period of 1000 years or more (Gregory et al., 2004; Lowe et al., 2005).

The main reason for Greenland warming up more in the future than the global mean is a positive or self-amplifying feedback, which may even result in a runaway effect (an uncontrollable feedback). Snow and ice reflect more than approximately 85% of incident solar radiation, which is much more than sea and land. If snow and ice were to decline in Greenland due to warming, a greater area of land and sea will be exposed to the sun, meaning that less solar radiation will be reflected and more absorbed. This will lead to extra warming, leading in turn to the melting of more snow and ice and yet more warming.

An additional effect is the possible significant warming impact on the Arctic by black carbon (soot), generated through the process of incomplete combustion and transported from, for instance, south Asia. It is thought that soot causes Arctic melting because as it settles on ice and snow the surface is darkened, absorbing more sunlight and causing faster melting (Koch and Hansen, 2005). Airborne soot also warms the air and affects weather patterns and clouds. Finally, the atmospheric layer that has to warm in order to warm the surface is shallower in the Arctic.

Not much is currently known about the process by which ice sheets disintegrate. The dynamics (and thus the final outflow into the sea) are generally governed by the ice thickness, and its slope and the friction at the base of the glacier. Glaciologists have observed in Greenland that the melt water trickles through the ice sheet to flow out underneath it. This acts as a lubricant: parts of the ice sheet therefore shift faster into the sea (Zwally et al., 2002; Corell, interview in Trouw, a Dutch newspaper, 19-2-'05). Researchers at the Climate Change Institute in Maine have, in their recent measurements (July 2005), seen that the Kangerdlugssuaq glacier in southeast Greenland is moving at a speed of ca.38 m per day towards the ocean. This speed is nearly three times greater than in the late 1990s. This seems to be one of the fastest moving glaciers in the world.

A complication here is that the ice sheets bordering the coast of Greenland (and Antarctica), and closing off the mouths of the glaciers flowing from the mainland, are thinning or even breaking up, which accelerates the flow of the glaciers into the sea (Alley, Penn State University, Washington). The contribution of Greenland and Antarctica to sea level rise this century is expected to be possibly far greater than was hitherto supposed by the IPCC (2001a). It is not yet clear whether the accelerated melting should be ascribed to global warming or natural causes (such as changes in the atmospheric circulation patterns in the northern hemisphere).

The climate in Greenland will be far milder without an ice sheet because the land surface will then be far lower than the top surface of an ice sheet and will reflect less sunlight. Even if the values for global climate and the composition of the atmosphere were to return to their pre-industrial levels, the ice sheet would probably not return. This means that the sea level rise will very probably be irreversible.



Data from Konrad Steffen and Russell Huff, University of Colorado

Observations of the summer melting regions on the Greenland ice sheet. The melting zone, where the summer warmth changes the snow and ice around the edges of the ice sheet into a slushy mixture of snow and melt water, has extended into the interior, reaching record heights in recent years (ACIA, 2004).

The last IPCC report characterised Antarctica as a sleeping giant with regard to climate change. Some scientists suggested the process of ice sheet disintegration to be non-linear and that it would therefore probably proceed far faster than has hitherto been supposed (faster than an ice sheet can grow), see Box 4.

In the meantime there have been clear indications of the non-linear course of the process by which these ice sheets disintegrate. Greenland has been observed to be melt-

ing harder and faster, with an acceleration in the shifting of glaciers after breaking up, and after the thinning of the floating ice sheets bordering the Greenland coast and some parts of Antarctica (West Antarctic Ice Sheet and peninsula). Recently, the spectacular collapse of Antarctica's Larsen B Ice Shelf has been blamed on effects of global warming in the Antarctic Peninsula, which is more pronounced in this region than elsewhere in Antarctica or the rest of the world (Domack et al., 2005). There are thus indications that the giant is starting to awaken, even though the Eastern Antarctica shows little sign of change at the moment (Rapley, 2005).

These new observations lead one to expect a considerably greater contribution from the ice sheets to sea level rise this century than expected by the IPCC (2001a). (See also Box 4)

If the global temperature continues to increase, a significant additional contribution is expected from both Greenland and the WAIS to the sea level rise over the very long term (after the 21st century), even in the absence of accelerated melting.

The *conclusion* is that, while there are still many uncertainties about the longer term (after 2100), it is nevertheless probable that a global temperature rise of more than $1-2^{\circ}$ C will cause irreversible melting of the Greenland ice sheet, resulting ultimately in a sea level rise of 7 metres. This process may well take 1000 years or more (unless the positive feedbacks are stronger than expected), but it can start in the course of this century. New observations lead us to expect a far greater contribution from the ice sheets to sea level rise in the present century than the IPCC (2001a) had supposed.

3.3 The thermohaline circulation

Three factors play a role in ocean currents: tides, wind and differences in the water density. The density of ocean water is determined by temperature and salinity. The ocean currents that are driven by density differences are called the thermohaline circulation (THC).

Together with wind-driven currents, the THC forms the Gulf Stream, of which the North Atlantic Ocean Current is a part (see Figure 5). This is a major factor influencing the climate in Western Europe as it transports heat from the tropics to higher latitudes.

If the density of the North Atlantic sea water is reduced due to more freshwater input and/or reduced cooling, this may result in a slowdown of the THC. The freshening of the water may be the result of more precipitation or the melting of sea and land ice. Pooling and sudden release of glacial meltwater, disintegration of shelf ice followed by a surge in glacier movement, and lubrication of the glacier base by increased melting are all possible mechanisms that could inject large amounts of fresh water from Greenland's ice sheet into the upper layers of the Nordic Seas (Currey and Mauritzen, 2005).



Figure 5: The Gulf Stream.

There are two risks associated with a weakened THC: a threshold effect and a hysteresis effect. (The latter is an irreversibility effect: i.e. the strength of the ocean current does not return along the same path to the old level if the temperature falls). We do not know the precise form of the hysteresis curve, nor where we are on the curve at the present time.

A significant reduction in the thermohaline circulation will have major consequences for the North Atlantic region. There are strong indications of a THC shutdown in the past – within a few tens of decades. It has been found, for instance, that the coldest interval in the last 20,000 years occurred when the Atlantic Ocean circulation collapsed after icebergs entered the North Atlantic about 17,500 years ago. This regional extreme climate event started suddenly and lasted for about 2000 years. This cold interval was followed by an acceleration of the ocean circulation and a considerably warmer climate above North America and the North Atlantic region (McManus et al., 2004). NASA satellite observations have revealed that the North Atlantic Ocean circulation was considerably weaker at the end of the 1990s compared with the circulation in the 1970s and '80s (Häkkinen and Rhines, 2004). The tropical ocean water has become far more saline in the last 40 years, while the oceans have become fresher closer to the poles (Curry et al., 2003). If the northern part of the Atlantic Ocean becomes too fresh, it could happen that the water no longer sinks to the abyss and that the THC will weaken.

How the THC will develop this century highly depends on how the exchange of warm and freshwater responds to the increasing concentration of greenhouse gases (Clark et al., 2002). The 2001 IPCC report states that a slowdown of the THC may occur this century in connection with the increasing greenhouse gas concentrations. Some of the models used even suggest that the THC may collapse. Figure 6, based on a model calculation, shows what the collapse of the THC may imply for northwestern Europe.



Figure 6: Model calculation showing collapse of the thermohaline circulation (Wood et al., 2005).

Currently, experts estimate that there is at least a 5% probability that the THC will collapse if the global mean temperature rises by 2° C above the pre-industrial level, and that the probability is even greater than 50% if the temperature rises by more than 4° C -5° C. The experts further expect a slowdown of the North Atlantic ocean current by 10–50% this century under a doubled CO₂ scenario. A recent publication (Schlesinger et al., 2005) states that in the absence of any climate policy, the probability of a THC collapse between now and roughly 2200 is greater than 50%.

For a risk assessment of a THC collapse we will need knowledge of the probability of its occurrence and the associated consequences. Estimations of the probability that such an event will occur are rendered more difficult by the high degree of uncertainty in the models used (Wood et al., 2005). The figures given above related to the THC collapse must therefore also be regarded as speculative. A more reliable answer will need further observations and model experiments.

The ultimate consequences of the slowdown or even shutdown of the THC depend on a number of aspects: regional cooling in Western Europe as a result of the THC collapse, regional warming due to the continuing greenhouse effect, and the magnitude of heat transport through the ocean to the North Atlantic region (the warm Gulf Stream will never, because it is mainly wind-driven). There are also great differences in the rate of change: slowdown / shutdown of the THC, if it happens, will probably occur over a period of one to a few decades, while global warming will manifest itself over periods in the order of a hundred years. Apart from that, even if the THC were to collapse, global warming will continue and may thus lead to increased warming in other regions.

4. Effects on the Netherlands

A recent study looked at the consequences for the Netherlands of a warming range of up to 4°C in relation to pre-industrial levels, for water, ecosystems, health, the coastal zone, tourism and socioeconomic impacts. The study was led by the Institute for Environmental Studies, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, within the sub-programme for Scientific Assessment and Policy Analysis of the Netherlands Research Programme on Climate Change. The findings of this study, obtained by means of Participative Integrated Assessment with interested parties, are depicted in Figure 7 (Gupta and Van Asselt, 2004).



Figure 7: Reasons for concern in the Netherlands (based on effects in 2100)

A conclusion of the study as a whole then is that water is one of the most important perceived reasons for concern for the Netherlands. This country will be seriously influenced by climate change via changes in the water system. For example, it is expected that the winter discharge from the Rhine and Meuse will increase, while the summer discharge will decrease. An increasing sea level will impede the discharge of water to the sea. A local sea level rise of more than 3 mm per annum (or 30 cm per century) will result in the loss of part of the Wadden area. The seepage of saline water in areas around the IJsselmeer is expected to increase. The flooding of polders and salt water intrusion will become common and there will be water shortages in summer. As a result of salination, and damage by droughts and water excess due to more and more intensive occurrence of weather extremes, effects on food production may occur (Kok et al., 2002). Finally, the increasing temperature and the reduced availability of water will lead to a reduced availability of cooling water to industry and power stations. This problem can be solved by investing in adaptation measures. With regard to water management, these measures involve, inter alia, improvements to retention, storage and discharge systems. The necessary additional yearly costs up to the year 2050, which are needed for adaptation measures, are estimated at M€ 225 yearly, based on a climate scenario of $+2^{\circ}C$ for 2100.

The scientists and interested parties involved in the research have agreed that on the basis of the current state of knowledge, a target of 2°C global mean temperature increase would seem to be the most reasonable long-term target for the Netherlands, mainly to rule out the risks of irreversible effects. It should be mentioned, however, that the choice of target be reserved for the political process.

References

- Abdalati, W. and Steffen, K. (2001), Greenland ice sheet melt extent: 1979-1999, J. Geophys. Res, 106 (D24), 33 983-33988
- ACIA (2004), Impacts of a Warming Arctic.Final Report Arctic Climate Impact Assessment. Cambridge University Press, UK,
- Arnell, N.W., Cannell, M.G.R., Hulme, M., Kovats, R.S., Mitchell, J.F.B., Nicholls, R.J., Parry, M.L. Livermore, M.T.J. and White, A. (2002), The consequences of CO2 stabilisation for the impacts of climate change, Climatic Change 53, 413-446
- Bakkenes, Michel, Bas Eickhout and Rob Alkemade (2005), Ecosystem impacts of different climate stabilization scenarios, conditionally accepted by Global Environmental Change
- Burgmann, H. (1997), Sensitivity of forests in the European Alps to future climatic change, Climate Research 8, 35-44
- Busby, J.R. (1988), Potential implications of climate change on Australia's flora and fauna, in Pearman, G.I. (eds.), CSIRO Division of Atmospheric Research, Melbourne, pp. 387-388
- Church, J.A. and J.M. Gregory (2001), Sea level change, In: Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences, J.H. Steele and K.K. Turekian eds., Academic Press, London
- Church, J.A. (2004), How Fast Are Sea Levels Rising? Science 294, 29-30
- Clark, Peter U., Nicklas G. Pisias, Thomas F. Stocker, Andrew J. Weaver (2002), The role of the thermohaline circulation in abrupt climate change, Nature. 415, 863 – 869
- Council of the European Union, 15962/04 (Presse 357), 2632nd Council Meeting, Brussel 20 December 2004
- Cowling, S.A., Cox, P.M., Betts, R.A., Ettwein, V.J., Jones, C.D., Maslin, M.A. en Spall, S.A (2003), Contrasting simulated past and future responses of the Amazon rainforest to atmospheric change; Philosophical Transactions of the Roal Society of London, in press
- Cox, P.M., Betts, R.A., Collins, M., Harris P.P., Huntingford, C. and Jones C.D. (2004), Amazonian forest dieback under climatecarbon cycle projections for the 21st century, Theoretical and Applied Climatology 78, 137-156
- Curry, R., Dickson, B. and Yashayew, I. (2003), A change in the freshwater balance of the Atlantic Ocean over the past four decades, Nature 426, 18-25

- Curry, R and Mauritzen, C (2005), Dilution of the Northern North Atlantic Ocean in Recent Decades, Science 308, 1772-1774
- Derocher, A.E., Lunn, N.J. and Stirling, I. (2002), Polar bears in a changing climate, Integrative and Comparative Biology 42, 1219-1219
- Domack, Eugene, Diana Duran, Amy Leventer, Scott Ishman, Sarah Doane, Scott McCallum, David Amblas, Jim Ring, Robert Gilbert and Michael Prentice (2005), Stability of the Larsen B ice shelf on the Antarctic Peninsula during the Holocene epoch, Nature 436, 681-685
- Dyurgerov, M. (2003), Mountain and subpolar glaciers show an increase in sensitivity to climate warming and intensification of the water cycle, Journal of Hydrology 282, Issues 1-4,164-176
- Eickhout B., Elzen M.G.J den, Vuuren D.P. van (2003), Multi-gas emission profiles for stabilising greenhouse gas concentrations: Emission implications of limiting global temperature increase to 2°C. RIVM Report, nr 728001026, 50 p
- Elzen, Michel den and Malte Meinshausen (2005), Emission implications of long-term climate targets, In: abstracts of the International Symposium on Stabilisation of Greenhouse Gases: Avoiding dangerous climate change, 1-3 February, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom
- European Climate Forum (ECF) (2004), Press Release, What is dangerous climate change?
- Fischer, G., Shah, M., van Velthuizen, H. and Nachtergaele, F. (2001), Global agro-ecological assessment for agriculture in the 21st century, Laxenburg, Austria, IIASA: 33
- Gitay, H., A. Suarez, R.T. Watson, and D.J. Dokken (2002), Climate change and biodiversity; IPCC Technical paper 5, April 2002, 77 pp
- Gregory, J.M. and J.A. Lowe (2000), Predictions of global and regional sea-level rise using OAGCMs with and without flux adjustment, Geophys. Res. Lett. 27 (19), 3069-3072
- Gregory, J.M., P. Huybrechts and S.C.B. Raper (2004), Threatened loss of the Greenland icesheet, Nature 428, 616
- Gupta, J. and Asselt van H. (eds.) Re-evaluation of the Netherlands' long-term climate targets, VUIvM Report E-04/07, August 2004
- Hadley Centre (2005), Stabilising climate to avoid dangerous climate change – a summary of relevant research at the Hadley Centre, Exeter

Häkkinnen, Sirpa and Peter B. Rhines (2004). Decline of Subpolar North Atlantic circulation During the 1990s. Science 304, 555-559

Hannah, L., Midgely, G.F., Lovejoy, T., Bond, W.J., Bush, M., Lovett, J.C. Scott, D. and Woodward, F.J. (2002), Conservation of Biodiversity in a Changing Climate, Conservation Biology 16, 264-268

Hare, W.L. (2003), Assessment of knowledge on impacts of climate change – Contribution to the specification of Art. 2 of the UNFCCC, Background report to the WBGU special report 94

Hare, B. and Meinshausen, N. (2004). How much warming are we committed to and how much can be avoided? PIK report 93, Potsdam institute for climate impact research, Potsdam.

Hilbert, D.W., Ostendorf, B. and Hopkins,
M.S. (2001), Sensitivity of tropical forests to climate change in the humid tropics of north Queensland, Austral Ecology 26, 590603

Hilbert, D.W., Bradford, M., Parker, T. and Westcott, D.A. (2003), Golden bowerbird (Prionodura newtonia) habitat in past, present and future climates: predicted extinction of a vertebrate in tropical highlands due to global warming, Biological Conservation, in press, corrected proof

Hitz, Samuel, Joel Smith (2004), Estimating global impacts from climate change, Global Environmental Change 14, 201-218

Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (1999), Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs, Marine and Freshwater Research 50, 839-866

Huybrechts, P. and de Wolde, J.J. (1999), The dynamic response of the Greenland and Antarctic ice sheets to multiple-century climatic warming, J. Clim. 12, 2169-2188

IPCC (2001^a), Third Assessment Report, The Scientific Basis, Cambridge University Press

IPCC (2001^b), Third Assessment Report, Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, Cambridge University Press

IPCC (2001^c), Third Assessment Report, Mitigation, Cambridge University Press

Johannessen, O.M., Bengtsson, L., Miles, M.W., Kuzmina, S.I., Semenov, V.A., Genrikh, V.A., Nagurnyi, A.P., Zakharov, V.F., Bobylev, L.P., Petterson, L.H., Hasselmann, K. and Cattle, H.P. (2004), Arctic climate change: observed and modeled temperature and sea-ice variability, Tellus A 56, 328-341

Klein Tank, Albert (2004), Changing Temperature and Precipitation extremes in Europe's Climate of the 20th century, Thesis

Koch, Dorothy and James Hansen (2005), Distant origins of Arctic black carbon: A Goddard Institute for Space Studies ModelE experiment, Journal of Geophysical Research 110, 25 February 2005

Kok, M.T.J., G.J.Heij, A.Verhagen and C.A.Rovers (2002). Climate Change, a permanent concern. Final report of the second phase of the Dutch National Research Programme on Global Air Pollution and Climate Change

Kundzewicz Z.W., M.L. Parry; W. Cramer, J.I. Holten et al (2001) Europe, In: IPCC third assessment report WGII, Chapter 13: 641-692, Cambridge University Press

Leemans, Rik and Bas Eickhout (2004), Another reason for concern: regional and global impacts on ecosystems for different levels of climate change, Global Environmental Change 14, 219-228

Leemans, Rik and Arnold van Vliet (2004), Extreme weather: does nature keep up? Observed responses of species and ecosystems to changes in climate and extreme weather events: many more reasons for concern, Wageningen UR/WWF report

Lowe, Jason, A., Jonathan M. Gregory, Jeff Ridley, Philippe Huybrechts and Robert J. Nicholos (2005), The role of sea level rise and the Greenland ice sheet in dangerous climate change and issues of climate stabilistation, In: abstracts of the International Symposium on Stabilisation of Greenhouse Gases: Avoiding dangerous climate change, 1-3 February, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom

McManus, J.F., Francois, R., Gherardi, J.-M., Keigwin, L.D. and Brown-Leger, S. (2004), Collapse and rapid resumption of Atlantic meridional circulation linked to deglacial climate changes, Nature 428, 834-837

Mercer, J. (1978), West Antarctic Ice Sheet and $\rm CO_2$ Greenhouse Effect: a threat of disaster, Nature 27, 321

Midgley, G.F., Hannah, L., Millar, D., Rutherford, M.C. and Powrie, L.W. (2002), Assessing the vulnerability of species in a biodiversity richness to anthropogenic climate change in a biodiversity hotspot, Global Ecology and Biogeography 11, 445-452

Mitchell, J.F.B., T.J. Johns, W.J. Ingram and J.A. Lowe (2000), The effect of stabilising atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations on global and regional climate change, Journal of Geophysical Research, 27, 2977-2980

Murphy, James M., David M.H.Sexton, David N. Barnett, Gareth S. Jones, Mark J.Webb, Matthew Collins & David A. Stainforth (2004). Quantification of modelling uncertainties in a large ensemble of climate change simulations. Nature 430, 768-772

- Ni, J. (2001), Carbon Storage in Terrestrial Ecosystems of China: Estimates at Different Spatial Resolutions and Their Responses to Climate Change, Climatic Change 49, 339-358
- Nicholls, Robert J. and Jason A. Lowe (2004). Benefits of mitigation of climate change for coastal areas. Global Env. Change 14, 229-244
- Nicholls, Robert, J. (2005), Climate Stabilisation and Impacts of Sea-Level Rise, In: abstracts of the International Symposium on Stabilisation of Greenhouse Gases: Avoiding dangerous climate change, 1-3 February, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom

Oerlemans, J (2005). Extracting a Climate Signal from 169 Glacier Records, Science 308, 675-677

- O'Neill, Brian C. and Michael Oppenheimer (2002), Dangerous climate impacts and the Kyoto Protocol, Science 296, 1971-1972, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom, News release 16 December 2004
- Parry, M., Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., Fischer, G. and Livermore, M. (1999), Climate change and world food security: a new assessment, Global Environmental Change-Human and Policy Dimensions 9, S51-S67
- Parry, M., Arnell, N., McMichael, T., Nicholls,
 R., Martens, P., Kovats, S., Livermore, M.,
 Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., and Fischer,
 G. (2001), Millions at risk: defining critical climate change threats and targets, Global Environmental Change 11, 181-183
- Parry, M., Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., Livermore, M. and Fischer, G. (2004), Effects of climate change on global food production under SRES emissions and socioeconomic scenarios, Global Environmental Change 14, 53-67
- Pittock, B., Wratt, D., Basher, R., Bates, B., Finalyson, M., Gitay, H., Woodward, A., Arthington, A., Beets, P. and Biggs, B. (2001), Chapter 12, Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 591-639
- Rapley, Ch. (2005), Antarctic ice sheet and sea level rise, British Antarctic survey, In: abstracts of the International Symposium on Stabilisation of Greenhouse Gases: Avoiding dangerous climate change, 1-3 February, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom
- Rutherford, M.C., Midgley, G.F., Bond, W.J., Powrie, L.W., Musil, C.F., Roberts, R. and Allsopp, J. (1999), South African Country Study on Climate Change, Pretoria, South Africa, Terrestrial Plant Diversity Section, Vulnerability and Adaptation, Department of Envrironmental Affars and Tourism

- Schär, Christoph, Gerd Jendritzky (2004). Hot news from summer 2003, Nature 432, 559 – 560
- Schlesinger, Michael E., Jianjun Yin, Gary Yohe, Natalia G. Andronova, Sergey Malyshev, Bin Li (2005), In: abstracts of the International Symposium on Stabilisation of Greenhouse Gases: Avoiding dangerous climate change, 1-3 February, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom
- Sheppard, C.R.C. (2003), Predicted recurrences of mass, coral mortality in the Indian Ocean, Nature 425, 294-297
- Smith, J.B., Schellnhuber, H.-J., Mirza, M.M.Q., Frankhauser, S., Leemans, R., Erda, L., Ogallo, L., Pittock, B., Richels, R., and Rosenzweig, C. (2001), Chapter 19: Vulnerability to climate change and reasons for concern: A synthesis, Climate Change 2001: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 915-967
- Sorensen, L.G., Goldberg, R., Root, T.L. and Anderson, M.G. (1998), Potential effects of global warming in waterfowl populations breeding in the Northern Great Plains, Climate Change 40, 343- 369
- Stainforth, D.A., Alna, T., Christensen, C., Collins, M., Faull, N., Frame, D.J., Kettleborough, J.A., Knight, S., Martin, M., Murphy, J.M., Piani, C., Secton, D., Smith, L.A., Spicer, R.A., Thorpe, A.J. and Allen, M.R. (2005). Uncertainty in predictions of the climate response to rising levels of greenhouse gases, Nature 433, 403-406.
- The Royal Society. Ocean acidification due to increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide, Policy document 12/05, June 2005
- Theurillat, J.-P. and Guisan, A. (2001), Potential Impact of Climate Change on Vegetation in the European Alps: A Review, Climatic Change 50, 77-109
- Thomas R., E. Rignot, G. Casassa, P. Kanagaratnam,
 C. Acuna, T. Atkins, H. Brecher, E. Frederick,
 P. Gogineni, W. Krabill, S. Manizade,
 H. Ramamoorthy, A. Rivera, R. Russell,
 J. Sonntag, R. Swift, J. Yungel, J. Zwally
 (2004). Accelerated Sea-level Rise from
 West Antarctica, Science 306, 255-258
- Uitvoeringsnota Klimaatbeleid, deel I: Binnenlandse maatregelen (The Netherlands' Climate Policy Implementation Plan, Part I: Domestic Measures), VROM, June 1999, The Hague
- Williams, S.E., Bolitho, E.E. and Fox, S. (2003), Climate change in Australian tropical rainforests: an impending environmental catastrophe, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological Sciences 270, 1887-1892

- Wood, Richard, Matthew Collins, Jonathan Gregory, Glen Harris and Michael Vellinga (2005), Towards a risk assessment for shutdown of the Atlantic thermohaline circulation, In: abstracts of the International Symposium on Stabilisation of Greenhouse Gases: Avoiding dangerous climate change, 1-3 February, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom
- Zwally, H.J., Abdalati, W., Herrin, T., Larson, K., Saba, J. and Steffen, K. (2002), Surface melt-induced acceleration of Greenland ice-sheet flow, Science 297, 218-222